UNIT I.  INTRODUCTION: KEY LEGAL CLAIMS
A.  Intentional Discrimination

KRAMARSKY v. STAHL MANAGEMENT

401 N.Y.S.2d 943 (N.Y. Sup. 1977)

EDWARD J. GREENFIELD, Justice. 
This is an application … for an order enjoining respondents from selling, renting, leasing, or otherwise disposing of Apartment 9J at 225 West 106th Street to anyone other than petitioner until final determination of a complaint against respondent Stahl Management now pending before the State Division of Human Rights.

 

The application is based upon a complaint of discrimination by one Judith Pierce, a black divorced woman, who contends that Stahl Management unlawfully discriminated against her by refusing to rent an apartment because of her race, sex and marital status.  In support of that contention, she points to the willingness of the respondent to rent an apartment to a later white applicant.

 

Respondent denies any illegal discrimination insisting that Ms. Pierce was not turned down because she was black, female or divorced, but for other reasons. In support of this contention, he demonstrates that 30% of his apartments have been rented to blacks, including the last two for which there were both black and white applicants and that 60% of the apartments have been rented to unmarried persons.  The reason for her rejection, the landlord contends, is that her application indicated that in the eyes of the landlord she would be an undesirable tenant.

 

The application form is a one page sheet in which Ms. Pierce indicated that she was employed as general counsel to the Ne w York City Commission on Human Rights, that she had earned a salary of $28,000 plus a year and that she had previously been employed with the Legal Services Corporation.  Under the space for Repairs and Remarks she had written in “Painting New Rulings”.  Mr. Stahl, the individual who operated the respondent, candidly admits that that information on the application indicated that “she would be a source of trouble to me as a tenant.”  Rather than a lawyer attuned to her legal rights, he would have preferred, all other things being equal, a person who was likely to be less informed and more passive.

The Human Rights Law (Executive Law, Art.15) provides in §296, Subdivision 5:

(a) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for the owner, lessee, sub‑lessee, assignee, or managing agent of, or other person having the right to sell, rent or lease a housing accommodation, constructed or to be constructed, or any agent or employee thereof:


(1) To refuse to sell, rent, lease or otherwise to deny to or withhold from any person or group of persons such a housing accommodation because of the race, creed, color, national origin, sex, or disability or marital status of such person or persons.


(2) To discriminate against any person because of his race, creed, color, national origin, sex, or disability or marital status in the terms, conditions or privileges of the sale, rental or lease of any such housing accommodation or in the furnishing of facilities or services in connection therewith.



Absent a supervening statutory proscription, a landlord is free to do what he wishes with his property, and to rent or not to rent to any given person at his whim.  The only restraints which the law has imposed upon free exercise of his discretion is that he may not use race, creed, color, national origin, sex or marital status as criteria.  So, regrettable though it may be, a landlord can employ other criteria to determine the acceptability of his tenants occupational, physical or otherwise.  He may decide not to rent to singers because they are too noisy, or not to rent to bald‑headed men because he has been told they give wild parties.  He can bar his premises to the lowest strata of society, should he choose, or to the highest, if that be his personal desire.




Thus, this court concludes that there is nothing illegal in a landlord discriminating against lawyers as a group, or trying to keep out of his building intelligent persons, aware of their rights, who may give him trouble in the future. … Although the courts, in the interest of justice, will endeavor to facilitate to the fullest the legislative intent and public policy underlying antidiscrimination legislation, the facts and circumstances of this case do not warrant injunctive relief.  The court is not persuaded that there is a reasonable likelihood that the charge of discrimination can be sustained. Accordingly, the application is denied and the temporary restraining order vacated.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1.01  What evidence supports the landlord’s claim that neither race nor sex nor marital status was the reason for excluding the plaintiff?

1.02:  What is the significance in this case of the phrase, “Painting New Ruling”?
1.03: What concerns might arise when we allow landlords to exclude an applicant because they believe the person would be “an undesirable tenant”?

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
MARINA POINT, LTD.  v. WOLFSON 

640 P.2d 115 (Cal. 1982)

TOBRINER, Justice.  In this case we must determine whether, under California law, an owner of an apartment complex may lawfully refuse to rent any of its apartments to a family solely because the family includes a minor child. … For the reasons discussed below, we have concluded that the landlord's broad, class‑based exclusionary practice violates the Unruh Civil Rights Act [Cal. Civ. Code §51 et seq.a] (hereafter Unruh Act or act) ….  

1.  The facts and proceedings below.  Plaintiff Marina Point, Ltd. (hereafter landlord or Marina Point) is a privately owned apartment complex, which, at the time of trial, consisted of 846 separate apartment units. … In January 1974, defendants Stephen and Lois Wolfson signed a one‑year lease for an apartment in the Marina Point complex … Although the printed form lease that the Wolfsons then signed contained a clause which provided that no minors under the age of 18 could reside in the leased premises without the landlord's written permission, Marina Point acknowledges that at that time it followed a policy of renting its apartments to families with children as well as to families without children.


In October 1974, Marina Point altered its rental policy with the objective of ultimately excluding all children from the apartment complex.  At that time, well over 60  families with children lived in apartments in the complex, and Marina Point decided that while it would allow the children already there to remain, it would not rent any apartments to new families with children or with pregnant women.


In February 1975, the Wolfsons renewed their lease for a one‑year period;  the form lease again contained the same clause with respect to children as had appeared in the initial lease.  In September 1975, Lois Wolfson gave birth to a son, Adam, who thereafter resided with his parents in the family apartment in Marina Point.  In February 1976, the Wolfsons renewed their lease for another year; although the lease again contained the identical clause as to written consent for children, the Wolfsons apparently did not specifically inform the landlord of Adam's presence, and the lease made no reference to him.


In the fall of 1976, the landlord's manager learned that the Wolfsons had a child living in the apartment;  shortly thereafter, the landlord informed them that their lease, due to expire on January 31, 1977, would not be renewed, and that the sole reason for such nonrenewal was Adam's presence on the premises.  After some negotiation between the parties, Marina Point agreed to … an … extension of the lease to May 31, 1977.


When the Wolfsons failed to vacate the premises on May 31, the landlord commenced the present [lawsuit].… At trial, the landlord conceded that its nonrenewal of the Wolfsons’ lease rested solely on its current general policy of refusing to rent any of its apartments to families with children…. In defense of its exclusionary policy, the landlord’s apartment manager testified that the decision to bar families with children rested in part on a number of past instances in which young tenants had engaged in annoying or potentially dangerous activities, ranging from acts of arson to roller skating and batting practice in the hallways to the attempted solicitation of snacks from the landlord's office staff. … 


[In addition], the landlord presented testimony of two expert witnesses who had been in the real estate business for many years.  These witnesses testified that in their opinion children, as a class, generally cause more wear and tear on property than adults do, and that as a consequence, landlords who rent to families with children generally have higher maintenance costs than landlords who exclude children.  The witnesses presented no statistical data in support of their conclusion, but simply testified on the basis of their general experience.


… [T]wo immediate neighbors of the Wolfsons, one living next door and one living overhead, testified on behalf of the Wolfsons that they had not been disturbed by Adam's presence in the apartment.  In addition…, the Wolfsons presented one expert witness, a professor of real estate finance … who testified that the basic profitability of operating an apartment complex does not generally vary with the type or age of its tenants.  Finally, the Wolfsons introduced a number of recent studies by various groups documenting the extensive nature of the practice of discrimination against families with children in rental housing that currently exists throughout California. As these and more recent studies reveal, in many of the major metropolitan areas of the state, families with children are excluded from 60 to 80 percent of the available rental housing. 


At the conclusion of the trial, the municipal court ruled in favor of Marina Point, rejecting the Wolfsons’ contention that the landlord’s policy of excluding all families with children violated their … rights [and found] that the landlord's “exclusion of children ... proceeds from a reasonable economic motive to promote a quiet and peaceful environment free from noise and damage caused by children.” … 
2. Contrary to the municipal court’s conclusion, the antidiscrimination provisions of the Unruh Act are not confined only to a limited category of “protected classes” but rather protect “all persons” from any arbitrary discrimination by a business establishment. … The municipal court properly recognized that Marina Point, as a “business establishment,” was generally subject to the Unruh Act.  It concluded, however, that the act provided no protection to the Wolfsons because it found that the subjects … of the discriminatory practice in this case, described variously as “children” or “families with children,” did not fall within what the court believed to be a limited set of “protected classes” shielded from discriminatory treatment by the act. … 


This conclusion] directly conflicts with this court’s interpretation of the Unruh Act … in In re Cox, 474 P.2d 992 (Cal. 1970).  In Cox, an individual who claimed that he had been excluded from a shopping center because a friend with whom he was talking “wore long hair and dressed in an unconventional manner”, asserted that such exclusion was barred by the Unruh Act.  Relying upon the fact that the act, by its terms, expressly referred only to discrimination on the basis of “race, color, religion, ancestry or national origin,” the city argued in response that the act’s proscriptions were limited to discrimination which was based on the specifically enumerated forbidden criteria, and did not encompass the alleged discrimination against “hippies” or their associates.


After reviewing the common law origin, the legislative history and the past judicial interpretations of the act and its statutory predecessors, our court unanimously concluded in Cox that the 

identification of particular bases of discrimination—color, race, religion, ancestry, and national origin— ... is illustrative rather than restrictive. … Although the legislation has been invoked primarily by persons alleging discrimination on racial grounds, its language and its history compel the conclusion that the Legislature intended to prohibit all arbitrary discrimination by business establishments. (Italics added.) 


In reaching this conclusion, we relied, inter alia, upon the fact that the Unruh Act had emanated from the venerable common law doctrine which “attached [to various ‘public’ or ‘common’ callings] ‘certain obligations including … the duty to serve all customers on reasonable terms without discrimination ...’” (italics added), and upon the fact that prior judicial decisions construing the predecessors of the Unruh Act had clearly held that the statutory protections were not limited to discrimination based on race, religion, or national origin but also barred, for example, the exclusion of homosexuals from a public bar or restaurant  or the exclusion of persons with the reputation of immoral character from a public race track. Because we could find absolutely no evidence to suggest that the Legislature intended to contract the reach of the statutory protections when it enacted the expansive Unruh Act in 1959, we concluded that the act must properly be interpreted “to interdict all arbitrary discrimination by a business enterprise.” 


… Moreover, subsequent to our decision in Cox the Legislature effectively confirmed our interpretation of the act as barring all forms of arbitrary discrimination.  In 1974, the Legislature amended section 51, reenacting the prior provisions of the statute and adding “sex” to the specifically enumerated bases of discrimination listed in the Unruh Act.  In sending the bill to the Governor for his signature, the Chairman of the Select Committee on Housing and Urban Affairs explained:  

The purpose of the bill is to bring it to the attention of the legal profession that the Unruh Act provides a remedy for arbitrary discrimination against women (or men) in public accommodations which are business enterprises.  This bill does not bring such discrimination under the Unruh Act because that Act has been interpreted as making all arbitrary discrimination illegal, on whatever basis.  The listing of possible bases of discrimination has no legal effect, but is merely illustrative. (Original emphasis.)  

The chairman attached to his letter a copy of a legislative counsel opinion, discussing our decision in Cox and confirming the chairman's view of the legislation.


It is a well‑established principle of statutory construction that when the Legislature amends a statute without altering portions of the provision that have previously been judicially construed, the Legislature is presumed to have been aware of and to have acquiesced in the previous judicial construction.  Accordingly, reenacted portions of the statute are given the same construction they received before the amendment. …


[T]his principle … particularly applies to the instant case for here we need not simply presume that the Legislature knew of this court's interpretation of section 51 in Cox at the time of the 1974 amendment; the legislative documents establish beyond question that the Legislature was well aware of Cox 's construction of section 51.  Had the Legislature disagreed with the Cox interpretation, or had it desired to constrict the reach of section 51 in a manner incompatible with Cox, it presumably would have altered the preexisting language of the statute so to indicate. …  

3. The landlord's blanket exclusion of all families with minor children is not permissible under the Unruh Act even if children "as a class" are "noisier, rowdier, more mischievous and more boisterous" than adults.  The landlord maintains, however, that even if the municipal court erred in concluding that the Unruh Act did not apply because children or families with children were not a “protected class” under the act, the judgment in its favor should nonetheless be affirmed.  It asserts that the trial court's findings of fact demonstrate that its policy … is “reasonable” and not “arbitrary” and, as such, is not barred by the Unruh Act.


In … Cox we explained that while the Unruh Act prohibits a business establishment from engaging in any form of arbitrary discrimination, the act does not absolutely preclude such an establishment from excluding a patron in all circumstances. As we stated in Cox :  

In holding that the Civil Rights Act forbids a business establishment generally open to the public from arbitrarily excluding a prospective customer, we do not imply that the establishment may never insist that a patron leave the premises.  Clearly, an entrepreneur need not tolerate customers who damage property, injure others or otherwise disrupt his business.  A business establishment may, of course, promulgate reasonable deportment regulations that are rationally related to the services performed and the facilities provided.  


The landlord contends that the exclusionary policy at issue here falls within th[is] category of permissible regulations….  Marina Point acknowledges that its blanket policy of excluding all families with children cannot properly be characterized as a “deportment regulation” since it does not focus on the conduct of the individuals or families who are actually excluded by the rule.  (Cf. Hales v. Ojai Valley Inn and Country Club, 140 Cal. Rptr. 555 (Cal.App.1977) (restaurant rule requiring men to wear ties).)  The landlord contends, however, that in light of the trial court's factual finding that “[c]hildren are rowdier, noisier, more mischievous and more boisterous than adults,” its exclusion of all children bears a rational relation to its legitimate interest in preserving an appropriate environment.


… [W]e believe that … the landlord's contention rest[s] on a fundamental misconception of the Cox decision and, more basically, of the individual nature of the statutory right afforded “all persons” by section 51. … As we recognized in Cox, of course, an individual may forfeit his statutory right of access to the services of a business enterprise if he conducts himself improperly or disrupts the operations of the enterprise.  But, contrary to the contention of Marina Point …, the Unruh Act does not permit a business enterprise to exclude an entire class of individuals on the basis of a generalized prediction that the class “as a whole” is more likely to commit misconduct than some other class of the public.


This proposition is clearly demonstrated by our prior decisions….  Undoubtedly the class of persons with “reputations as to immoral character” was more likely than the general population to engage in illegal activities which a public race track legitimately would seek to prevent.  [We] clearly held, however, that an individual could not be excluded from the race track on the basis of such classification, but rather had a right to be judged on the basis of his own conduct. [See Orloff v. Los Angeles Turf Club, 227 P.2d 449 (Ca. 1951)] Similarly, although it may have been thought true—at least under the mores of that time—that homosexuals as a class were more likely than heterosexuals to engage in the kind of “immoral conduct” that would justify expulsion from a public restaurant or bar, … we held that any such class generalization did not afford a proper basis for exclusion of all homosexuals;  instead, we emphasized that “[m]embers of the public ... have a right to patronize a public restaurant and bar so long as they are acting properly and are not committing illegal or immoral acts....”  [Stoumen v. Reilly, 364 P.2d 969 (Cal. 1951)].

Indeed, the basic rights guaranteed by section 51 would be drastically undermined if, as the landlord contends, a business enterprise could exclude from its premises or services entire classes of the public simply because the owner of the enterprise had some reason to believe that the class, taken as a whole, might present greater problems than other groups.  Under such an approach, for example, members of entire occupations or avocations, e.g., sailors or motorcyclists, might find themselves excluded as a class from some places of public accommodation simply because the proprietors could show that, as a statistical matter, members of their occupation or avocation were more likely than others to be involved in a disturbance. Similarly, members of a particular nationality or ethnic group might be excluded from an apartment complex simply because the landlord had found from his experience that members of that nationality or ethnic group were more likely to play loud music or to damage the landlord's property than tenants of other backgrounds. …


As Cox makes clear, of course, under the Unruh Act exclusion on the basis of a group classification is as improper when applied to "children" or "families with children" as it is when applied to occupational, racial, religious or other broad "status" classifications.  Indeed, if we were to accept the landlord's contention that a blanket exclusion of children or families with children from rental housing can be justified because children as a class are noisier, rowdier and more boisterous than adults, it would logically follow that children could uniformly be excluded from virtually all business enterprises or places of public accommodation since, like apartment complexes, most businesses can claim a legitimate interest in eliminating excessively noisy, rowdy or boisterous conduct.


As our decisions … teach, although entrepreneurs unquestionably possess broad authority to protect their enterprises from improper and disruptive behavior, under the Unruh Act entrepreneurs must generally exercise this legitimate interest directly by excluding those persons who are in fact disruptive.  Entrepreneurs cannot pursue a broad status‑based exclusionary policy that operates to deprive innocent individuals of the services of the business enterprise to which section 51 grants “all persons” access.  …

Conclusion.  A society that sanctions wholesale discrimination against its children in obtaining housing engages in suspect activity.  Even the most primitive society fosters the protection of its young; such a society would hardly discriminate against children in their need for shelter.  Yet here the landlord would single out children as a class for exclusion from shelter although such discrimination against racial minorities or religious groups would be unquestionably illegal. Indeed, under the Unruh Act we have condemned any arbitrary discrimination against any class.


The argument is launched that children clearly may be excluded from certain kinds of housing, such as housing for the aged, housing for special classes or purposes, and therefore that the instant exclusion is justified. But we do not here adjudge such special purpose housing.  We have before us a mammoth apartment complex consisting of 846 separate apartments which proposes to engage in wholesale discrimination against children.  To permit such discrimination is to approve of widespread, and potentially universal, exclusion of children from housing.  Neither statute nor interpretation of statute, however, sanctions the sacrifice of the well‑being of children on the altar of a landlord’s profit, or possibly some tenants’ convenience.  
The judgment is reversed.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1.04 On what evidence does the California Supreme Court rely for its determination in Marina Point that the California legislature intended the list of protected categories in the Unruh Act to be Illustrative rather than exclusive?  What is the possible significance for this determination of the legislature’s amending the statute to add “sex” to the list? 
1.05 Marina Point does not explicitly define what other kinds of discrimination the court would consider to be arbitrary. What language in the opinion could be used to help decide this?  Hpw do the cited cases help?  How does the court’s discussion of the facts of the  case help?
1.06 Under the reasoning of Marina Point, could a California landlord exclude a person because that person was a lawyer? A college student?  A member of a particular fraternity? A convicted arsonist? The applicant in Kramarsky? Under the reasoning of Marina Point, what is wrong  with this quote from Kramarsky:
[A landlord] may decide not to rent to singers because they are too noisy, or not to rent to bald‑headed men because he has been told they give wild parties.  
1.07.  Almost all fair housing statutes, including the federal Fair Housing Act, are structured like the New York City Human Rights Law at issue in Kramarsky in the sense that they provide a list of characteristics that housing providers may not employ in making their decisions.  The open-ended approach of California’s Unruh Act is much rarer.  What are the strengths and weaknesses of each approach?  
1.08 In Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV, 805 P.2d 873 (Cal. 1991), the California Supreme Court rejected a challenge to a landlord’s policy of requiring a minimum income of three times the rental fee.  The prospective tenant claimed that the policy constituted economic discrimination that violated Marina Point.  The court rejected the claim, holding that the Marina Point analysis was limited to “discrimination based on personal characteristics similar to the statutory classifications of race, sex, religion, etc.”  Because “economic characteristics” are not covered, the landlord did not have to make a personalized determination of ability to pay.  How does the holding in Harris affect your analysis of the examples listed in Discussion Questions 1.06?
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
Review Problems: Marina Point
Problems 1A and 1B were short exam questions for Property classes in which I taught Marina Point.  If you’d like to do them under exam conditions, give yourself about 10 minutes to read and outline the problem and then twenty minutes to write your answer

(1A) Discuss whether Loretta’s decision not to rent the apartment to Patrick in the following scenario should be considered “arbitrary” under Marina Point, and therefore a violation of California’s Unruh Act.  Loretta is an enthusiastic alumna of Contra Costa College (CCC) in San Carlos, California.  When she purchased an apartment complex near the campus, she decided to rent only to CCC students and alumni.  Thus, when Patrick revealed that he was a graduate of nearby Whitcomb University, she refused to rent to him even though he had a good job and good references. 

(1B) Discuss whether Lourdes’s policy in the following scenario should be considered “arbitrary” under Marina Point, and therefore a violation of California’s Unruh Act.  Lourdes owns a 50-unit apartment complex in Dickerson, California.  Her father was employed by an American car company and was laid off for a substantial period of time when Americans started purchasing foreign-made cars.  Thus, Lourdes will only rent to people who drive cars that are either made by American companies or primarily manufactured in the United States. 

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
SORENSON v. RAYMOND

532 F.2d 496 (5th Cir. 1976)

GEE, Circuit Judge:  The major question in this case is whether an out-of-court admission that conduct was motivated by racial prejudice may be explained away in court like other such liability-creating declarations or whether it is final and fatal.  We hold that it may be explained.

Appellants are a white couple who seek compensatory and punitive damages under 42 U.S.C. §1982,2 plus attorneys’ fees and costs. The defendant is their former landlord, who allegedly evicted them because they entertained two black guests.  They appeal a judgment entered on special jury verdicts finding that race was not a significant factor in their landlord’s decision to evict them and that they suffered no damages from the eviction.

  
In detail, appellants complain that the trial court should have ...  (2) granted them a directed verdict on the liability issue ... ; (3) granted them a new trial because the verdict is contrary to the greater weight of the evidence; (4) granted them a new trial because of prejudicial comments by appellee’s counsel about possible drug use by appellants; and (5) prohibited appellee from using his peremptory challenges to exclude blacks from the jury.  Finding no error in the jury verdict or the court’s rulings, we affirm.

One day during the tenth month of appellants Brad and Gail Sorenson’s year lease, landlord Raymond, after appellants had said they would not be home,3 entered their apartment to find appellants and four other persons, including two black girls4 and a prior tenant whom Raymond disliked.  Inviting Brad Sorenson downstairs, Raymond announced that appellants must vacate their apartment, responding “Yes,” when Sorenson inquired whether the presence of two black girls had caused Raymond’s decision.  Raymond later testified that his true motive was fury at discovering the presence of an objectionable former tenant and a large number of people preparing for a party.  Additionally, he chronicled the frequent complaints by other tenants about loud music, late parties, strewn trash, and other irritating practices by appellants, and he related his concern for the physical condition of his apartment.  He insisted that he had responded affirmatively to Sorenson’s inquiry about the two black girls in an impassioned effort to anger Sorenson, having no later opportunity to give his real reasons for the eviction.5  

II.  Directed Verdict And New Trial.  To find a violation of section 1982’s prohibition of racial discrimination in the sale or rental of property, this court in United States v. Pelzer Realty Co., 484 F.2d 438, 443 (5th Cir. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 936 (1974), declared that the finder of fact must rule that race is at least “one significant factor” in the apartment rental decision. Appellants claim that they deserved a directed verdict on the ground that the use of discriminatory language coupled with the loss of rights makes motive or intent irrelevant, and for support they rely primarily on language in Pelzer that

it is not necessary to show that (defendant) intended to deprive (the victims) of rights granted by the (Fair Housing) Act.  A violation occurred because his words had that effect.

Id. at 443.  But the Pelzer court, faced with an alleged violation of [§3604(b), which] prohibits discrimination in the terms of sale or rental of a dwelling, found that a verbal demand made of these blacks that would not have been made of whites11 was discriminatory treatment, regardless of motivation, because the unretracted words themselves imposed on blacks a condition which was not imposed on similarly-situated whites.

In support of its ruling, the Pelzer court cited U.S. v. Mintzes, 304 F.Supp. 1305 (D.Md. 1969), which found illegal attempts by whites to induce homeowners to sell their dwellings by representations regarding the prospective entry of blacks into the neighborhood.  The representations were themselves actions which violated the “anti-blockbusting” statute, 42 U.S.C. §3604(e), which prohibits attempted inducements to sell using such racially oriented representations, regardless of racial motivation. As to them, there was no question of motive, for they were actionable regardless of the intent with which they were uttered and were specifically made so by statute. Here, however, the questioned conduct challenged as violative of §1982’s prohibition of discrimination in the sale or rental of property, is only evidence of the violation a racially-discriminatory motive, not the violation itself.  It may be that there are circumstances where the evidence of racial motivation can be so conclusively inferred from a defendant’s words that a court might direct a verdict based on words alone.  But where, as here, the only objectionable word uttered was an inculpatory “Yes,” it would be unjust to deny a defendant the opportunity to explain in his defense that he did not intend to speak the words or that his words, provoked by a leading question, were intended only to enrage, not to convey truthful information.

Appellants argue in the alternative that the evidence so strongly supports a finding that race was a dominant factor in the eviction decision that they were entitled to either a directed verdict or a new trial.  But after examining the record, we cannot say that the evidence, considered in the light most favorable to appellee, so strongly supports appellants that they deserved a directed verdict.  Nor can we say that the verdict was so contrary to the greater weight of the evidence that we should find that the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to grant a new trial.  ...

III.  Prejudicial Comments.  After a ruling that appellee could not introduce testimony that a tenant suspected appellants of using marijuana, appellee called Brad Sorenson as an adverse witness, inquired whether he had ever used his apartment for unlawful purposes, and when Sorenson said no, asked whether he had ever used marijuana. This conduct by appellee’s counsel borders on intentional misconduct in disregarding the judge’s prior ruling and admonition against introducing any evidence of possible drug usage by appellants.14  But the trial judge immediately instructed the jury to disregard the question, making no further explanation to the jury only because appellants’ counsel asked him not to.  In these circumstances, since the question elicited no damaging information, we cannot say that the prejudicial question made the proceeding so manifestly unfair that the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to grant a new trial.

IV.  Peremptory Challenges.  Appellants argue that appellee denied them a fair trial with a representative jury by using his peremptory challenges to eliminate all blacks from the jury.  But the Supreme Court has recognized that the peremptory challenge cannot be subject to judicial review even when exercised by the prosecution along racial lines, because the fairness of trial by an impartial jury requires no less.  Swain v. State of Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 220-22 (1965).  If discriminatory use of peremptory challenges by a government official cannot be challenged, then a fortiori, such practices by a private party are beyond this court’s power to review.

Conclusion.  Neither we nor our district courts sit to pass upon the taste of litigants or the attractiveness of their positions.  Our commitment is to truth and process, with emphasis on the former below and the latter here.  A careful inquiry into the process observed in the district court has not convinced us that the truth was not served.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1.09 What evidence supported the plaintiff in Sorenson?  What evidence supported the defendant?  Whose story do you find more convincing?  Assuming the appellate court found the defendant’s story unconvincing, why didn’t it reverse the decision?  

1.10.  What precisely did the court hold regarding the legal relevance of the defendant’s saying “Yes” when asked whether his motivation was racial?  How did the court distinguish Pelzer and Mintzes?

1.11.  Assume you represent the plaintiffs.  What arguments can you make as to how the alleged errors discussed in Parts III and IV of Sorenson harmed your clients’ chances for a fair trial?  What is the purpose of footnote 14? 
1.12:  42 U.S.C. §1982 gives all U.S. citizens “the same right” as “white citizens” to own or lease property.  This statutory language, is not explicit about who can sue to enforce §1982?  As is true in Sorenson, we know that a white person who loses their apartment because they have non-white visitors can sue.  What about people denied housing because they are Latinos?  Because they are Jewish?  Because they are white?  
1.13:  42 U.S.C. §1982 and 42 U.S.C. §3604, the two most important federal housing discrimination statutes, use different language to describe the conduct they prohibit.  Can you identify racially-based conduct that is prohibited by one statute but not by the other?

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
B.  Reasonable Accommodations & Modifications
SHAPIRO v. CADMAN TOWERS, INC.
 51 F.3d 328 (2d Cir. 1995)

MINER, Circuit Judge:  Defendants‑appellants Cadman Towers, Inc., a 400‑unit city‑aided cooperative apartment building in Brooklyn, and Sydelle Levy, the president of the cooperative's Board of Directors, appeal from an order. . . granting a preliminary injunction in favor of plaintiff‑appellee Phyllis Shapiro, a Cadman Towers cooperative apartment owner who is afflicted with multiple sclerosis. The injunction, issued pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §3604(f), requires Cadman Towers, Inc. and Levy (collectively “Cadman Towers”) to provide Shapiro with a parking space on the ground floor of her building's parking garage. For the reasons that follow, we affirm. . . .

BACKGROUND.  In the late 1970s, ... Shapiro was diagnosed as suffering from multiple sclerosis (“MS”), a disease of the central nervous system. One of Shapiro's doctors, Lave Schainberg, describes the type of MS suffered by Shapiro as one that follows a “relapsing progressive course where the patient goes downhill in a stepwise fashion over many years and eventually, in 30 or 35 years, becomes totally confined  to a wheelchair.” While MS ordinarily is characterized by an “unpredictable course,” the disease generally “manifests itself by difficulty in walking, urinary problems, sensory problems, visual problems, and fatigue.” Factors such as stress, cold temperatures, or infection tend to aggravate the symptoms. At times, Shapiro suffers physical weakness, difficulty in walking, loss of balance and coordination, fatigue, and severe headaches. During good periods, she can walk without assistance; at other times, she needs a cane or a wheelchair. Shapiro also suffers from severe bladder problems, resulting in incontinence. She presently catheterizes herself to relieve the buildup of urine.

   
In 1990, Shapiro moved into a two‑bedroom apartment in Cadman Towers. During her first two years there, Shapiro used public transportation and private car services to commute to her job as a guidance counselor at a middle school and to various social events. However, each of these modes of transportation presented various difficulties to Shapiro because of her disease.

   
In early 1992, Shapiro acquired an automobile. Parking space in her Brooklyn Heights neighborhood, as in most parts of New York City, is extremely scarce. Initially, Shapiro parked her car on the street, taking advantage of a city‑issued “handicapped” sticker that exempted her from normal parking rules and regulations. Even with that, however, it still was extremely difficult for her to find a parking spot, as many other persons who work or live in her neighborhood also have special parking privileges. Shapiro testified that the long delay in finding a parking space and walking to her building resulted in numerous urinary “accidents.” When she used an indwelling catheter, this delay would cause the bag to fill up, resulting in pain and leakage. 

The Cadman Towers apartment complex where Shapiro lives consists of two buildings and two parking garages. At 101 Clark Street, where Shapiro's apartment is located, there are 302 apartments and 66 indoor parking spaces. At 10 Clinton Street, there are 121 apartments and 136 parking spaces. The parking rate at either location is approximately $90 per month, considerably less than the $275 charged by the closest commercial garage. Due to the disparity in numbers between apartments and parking spaces, Cadman Towers generally has adhered to a first‑come/first‑served policy when allocating parking spaces. Pursuant to this policy, an individual desiring a parking space makes a written request to have his or her name placed on a waiting list. An applicant first waits for a space at 10 Clinton, and, after being assigned one at that location, becomes eligible to await assignment of a space at 101 Clark. Parking‑space users were required to live in Cadman Towers, and each apartment could be allocated only a single space. There were, however, exceptions to the building's usual policy. Six apartments had two parking spaces, apparently under a grandfathering arrangement, and at least one elderly resident was permitted to have her son, who works nearby, use her parking space. Also exempted from the first‑come/first‑served policy are three spaces given without charge to certain building employees as part of their compensation.

   
In February of 1992, Shapiro requested that a parking spot in the 101 Clark Street garage be made available to her immediately on account of her disability. This request was denied by the cooperative's Board of Directors, and Shapiro was advised to place her name on the appropriate waiting list. Her present counsel  and her brother, who also is an attorney, then wrote to the Board, requesting that Ms. Shapiro receive an immediate parking spot. After receiving these letters and consulting with counsel, Cadman Towers took the position that any duty under the Fair Housing Act to accommodate Shapiro's disability did not come into play until she was awarded a parking space in the normal course. Once Shapiro became entitled to a parking space, the building would then attempt reasonably to accommodate her disability, perhaps by assigning her a parking space near her apartment. 

   
... Shapiro filed a complaint with the Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"), alleging housing discrimination under the Fair Housing Amendments Act. After an investigation, HUD issued a charge of discrimination.... Shapiro elected ... to have her claims addressed in a civil action filed in the district court. ... [S]he filed a complaint ... alleging that Cadman Towers' refusal to provide her with an immediate parking space violated ... 42 U.S.C. §3604(f).  With her complaint, Shapiro also filed a motion for a preliminary injunction.  ... [T]he United States filed a complaint against Cadman Towers ... alleging housing discrimination on the same grounds pleaded by Shapiro, and the two cases were consolidated.  After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the district court granted Shapiro's motion for a preliminary injunction.... The injunction prohibited Cadman Towers from refusing to provide Shapiro with an immediate parking space on the ground floor of the garage at 101 Clark Street.

DISCUSSION  

 * * *

Irreparable Harm.  A showing of irreparable harm is essential to the issuance of a preliminary injunction. To establish irreparable harm, the movant must demonstrate “an injury that is neither remote nor speculative, but actual and imminent” and that cannot be remedied by an award of monetary damages. Tucker Anthony Realty Corp. v. Schlesinger, 888 F.2d 969, 975 (2d Cir. 1989). Here, the district court premised its determination of irreparable harm upon its finding that Shapiro was subject to risk of injury, infection, and humiliation in the absence of a parking space in her building. Specifically, the court found that Shapiro suffers from "an incurable disease that gradually and progressively saps her strength and interferes with her balance and bodily functions." The court summarized the impact of Shapiro's condition as follows: 

Plaintiff's disease makes her a candidate for accidental loss of balance, particularly during the winter season when her condition is aggravated. In addition, her urinary dysfunction results in episodes of embarrassing humiliation and discomfort which could be significantly reduced were she allowed to park indoors. The inconvenience suffered by a typical city resident forced to de-ice the car after a winter snowstorm is mild when compared to the discomfort, stress, and ensuing fatigue experienced by plaintiff when faced with the same task. 


Cadman Towers contends that many of the factual findings upon which the district court premised its determination of irreparable harm were clearly erroneous, and that the injunction should be overturned for that reason.

Shapiro’s Medical Condition.  Cadman Towers contends that the district court erred by failing to give sufficient weight to the testimony of other building occupants and the building staff regarding their observations of Shapiro's condition. These witnesses testified that, prior to the initiation of the proceedings giving rise to this appeal, Shapiro had always appeared to walk normally and that they had never observed her using a wheelchair. In discounting these observations by lay observers unfamiliar with Shapiro’s disease or its symptoms, the district court relied instead on the testimony given by Shapiro’s medical experts, including her treating physician. The district court's reliance on medical evidence adduced at the evidentiary hearing unquestionably was proper and the findings based thereon cannot be said to be clearly erroneous. Moreover, any purported inconsistency between the lay witnesses' observations and the testimony of Shapiro’s experts is, as the district court found, explainable by the fluctuating nature of Shapiro’s symptoms.

   
Cadman Towers also takes issue with the district court’s assessment of Shapiro’s urinary difficulties, arguing that Shapiro’s incontinence could be remedied by the permanent use of an indwelling catheter. While the district court did not make a specific finding with respect to this point, each party's expert testified that long‑term use of an indwelling catheter was inadvisable due to the risk of serious complications, including recurring infections. It seems clear that the district court credited this testimony and found that the permanent use of an indwelling catheter was medically inadvisable for Shapiro.  Inasmuch as this finding has substantial support in the record, it is not clearly erroneous.

Availability of Other Parking for Shapiro.  Cadman Towers argues that Shapiro did not need a parking space in its garage, because she could park on the street in spaces set aside for handicapped persons or in a commercial parking garage. However, the district court found that parking spots on the street frequently were unavailable to Shapiro or were too far away, and this determination is supported by the record. Similarly, the record supports the district court's determination that, in view of the severity of the difficulties experienced by Shapiro, the closest commercial parking garage also is too far from her apartment.

 
In sum, we believe that the district court's factual findings with respect to Shapiro's medical condition and the associated hardships are well supported by the record and are not clearly erroneous. We therefore conclude that the district court did not err in determining that Shapiro would likely suffer irreparable physical and emotional harm absent issuance of the injunction.

Likelihood of Success.  To establish Shapiro's likelihood of success on the merits, we must examine the statutory scheme under which she brings this suit. The Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 ("FHAA") was enacted to extend the principle of equal opportunity in housing to, inter alia, individuals with handicaps. ...  The legislative history of [§3604(f)(3)(B)] indicates that 
the concept of “reasonable accommodation” has a long history in regulations and case law dealing with discrimination on the basis of handicap.  A discriminatory rule, policy, practice or service is not defensible simply because that is the manner in which such rule or practice has traditionally been constituted.  This section would require that changes be made to such traditional rules or practices if necessary to permit a person with handicaps an equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.

H.R. Rep. No. 711, 100th Cong., 2d Sess. (1988).  Applying these principles, the district court concluded that Shapiro was likely to succeed on the merits of her FHAA claim. . . .

Interpretation of “Reasonable Accommodation”.  Cadman Towers contends that the district court erred by failing to interpret the phrase "reasonable accommodation" used in 42 U.S.C. §3604 in the same manner as the phrase has been interpreted under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Title VII requires an employer to “reasonably accommodate” an employee's religious observances or practices, provided that the requested accommodation would not work an “undue hardship” on the employer's business.  Cadman Towers contends that cases construing the term “reasonable accommodation” under Title VII consistently have held that the concept of “reasonable accommodation” requires only equal treatment and in no event extends to “affirmative action.” See Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 76‑77, 84, (1977) (Title VII's rule of “reasonable accommodation” did not require employer to compel a more senior worker to work a shift that the plaintiff could not work for religious reasons). Applying the Title VII standard for religious accommodation, Cadman Towers argues that, while Shapiro must be given an equal opportunity to use the building's parking garage, the court erred in granting her preferential treatment.

   
While Cadman Towers may be correct in its assertion that, under Title VII, any accommodation requiring more than a de minimis cost is an “undue hardship” and thus unreasonable, its reliance on Title VII is misplaced. We believe that in enacting the anti‑discrimination provisions of the FHAA, Congress relied on the standard of reasonable accommodation developed under §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973....  Section 504 prohibits federally‑funded programs from discriminating on the basis of a handicap and requires such programs to reasonably accommodate an otherwise‑qualified individual's handicaps. The legislative history of section §3604(f) plainly indicates that its drafters intended to draw on case law developed under §504, a provision also specifically directed at eradicating discrimination against handicapped individuals.


The legislative history of §3604(f) makes no reference to Title VII nor to the cases interpreting it. The absence of such a reference is highly significant, because the concept of reasonable accommodation under §504 is different from that under Title VII.  While the Supreme Court has held that §504 was intended to provide for “evenhanded treatment of qualified handicapped persons” and that it does not “impose an affirmative‑action obligation,” [Southeastern Community College v. Davis, 442 U.S. 397, 410-11 (1979)], the Court explained in a later case that “the term ‘affirmative action’ referred to those ‘changes,’ ‘adjustments,’ or ‘modifications’ to existing programs that would be ‘substantial’ or that would constitute ‘fundamental alterations in the nature of a program’  rather than those changes that would be reasonable accommodations,” Alexander v. Choate, 469 U.S. 287, 300 n.20 (1985). Accordingly, “reasonable accommodation” under §504 can and often will involve some costs. See Dopico v. Goldschmidt, 687 F.2d 644, 652 (2d Cir. 1982) (“Section 504 does require at least ‘modest, affirmative steps’ to accommodate the handicapped . . . .”).

   
In light of the legislative history of §3604, which specifically indicates that the term “reasonable accommodation” was intended to draw on the case law under §504..., and the fact that both provisions are directed toward eliminating discrimination against handicapped individuals, we conclude that the district court correctly relied on the standards for “reasonable accommodations” developed under §504, rather than the more restrictive standard of religious accommodation developed under Title VII. Thus, Cadman Towers can be required to incur reasonable costs to accommodate Shapiro’s handicap, provided such accommodations do not pose an undue hardship or a substantial burden.

Duty to Accommodate Shapiro. Cadman  Towers also argues that any duty to accommodate Shapiro has not yet arisen. In its view, only when Shapiro reaches the top of the parking garage's waiting list in the normal course will parking be a “service[] or facility. . . [offered] in connection” with the rental of her dwelling. 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(2). We disagree. Pursuant to §3604(f)(3)(B), Cadman Towers is required to make reasonable accommodations in its rules and practices so as to enable Shapiro to “use and enjoy [her] dwelling.” As discussed above, without a nearby parking space, Shapiro is subjected to a risk of injury, infection, and humiliation each time she leaves her dwelling and each time she returns home. We agree with the district court that, under these circumstances, nearby parking is a substantial factor in Shapiro's “use and enjoyment” of her dwelling.

Further support for this conclusion is found in 24 C.F.R. §100.204(b), a regulation promulgated by HUD that provides an example of a “reasonable accommodation” under the FHAA. The example set forth in §100.204(b) posits a building with 300 apartments and 450 parking spaces available on a first‑come/first‑served basis, and states that  the duty to make "reasonable accommodations" obligates the building management to reserve a parking space for a mobility‑impaired tenant near that tenant's apartment. It explains the reason for this as follows:

Without a reserved space, [the tenant] might be unable to live in [the apartment] at all or, when he has to park in a space far from his unit, might have difficulty getting from his car to his apartment unit. The accommodation therefore is necessary to afford [the tenant] an equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.

Although the situation before us is different from the example, because at Cadman Towers there are fewer parking spaces than apartments, this regulation makes it clear that the use and enjoyment of a parking space cannot be considered in isolation from the tenant's ability to use and enjoy her dwelling place, a right specifically protected by the FHAA....

   
Cadman  Towers, however, attempts to use the example set forth in §100.204(b) to support its position. It argues that HUD's inclusion of such an innocuous example of a reasonable accommodation must have been intended to demonstrate that only trivial burdens can be placed on property owners. This argument is without merit. “There is no suggestion in the regulations that [these examples] are intended to be exhaustive... .” United States v. Village of Marshall, 787 F. Supp. 872, 878 (W.D. Wisc. 1991) (rejecting the same argument). Moreover, such a interpretation would be inconsistent with the Supreme Court's admonition that the Fair Housing Act be given a “generous construction,” based on the importance of the anti‑discrimination policies that it vindicates. Trafficante v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 409 U.S. 205, 211‑12 (1972). 

Rights of Other Tenants.  Cadman Towers also argues that a reasonable accommodation under the FHAA cannot include displacing tenants who already have parking spaces assigned to them or interfering with the expectancy of persons already on the waiting list. It bases this argument on lines of cases under §504 and Title VII involving seniority rights in the workplace in which courts have held that displacing workers with seniority is not a reasonable accommodation. Cadman Towers analogizes its first‑come/first‑served allocation of parking spaces to a traditional seniority system in the workplace, typically implemented under a collective bargaining act.

   
The extent to which a “reasonable accommodation” for a handicapped individual can burden or take away rights or privileges enjoyed by non‑handicapped persons is an important question of first impression in this Circuit, particularly in the non‑workplace context. However, it would be premature for us to reach this issue now. The district court found that Shapiro could be accommodated without displacing any existing tenants, because three parking spots are reserved for building personnel and these workers could park in a commercial garage. Moreover, the court found that one parking space was used by a person that did not live in the building. These findings are well supported by the record and will not be disturbed on appeal. Accordingly, four parking spaces  were available for handicapped individuals that would not impair the rights of other non‑handicapped building tenants. We note, however, that the policies implicated in collective bargaining and labor‑relations cases are different from the policies implicated in the assignment of a parking space to a handicapped person.

Conclusion as to Likelihood of Success.  Based on the foregoing, we agree with the district court that defendants are under a duty to reasonably accommodate Shapiro’s need for a parking space in Cadman Towers' parking garage. We also agree with the district court that this accommodation may involve some changes to Cadman Towers' present method of allocating parking spaces and may require the cooperative to incur some costs. In view of Cadman Towers’ refusal to make any accommodations for Shapiro's handicap, reasonable or otherwise, we therefore conclude, as did the district court, that Shapiro has demonstrated a clear likelihood of success in establishing a violation of the FHAA.

Conclusion as to Issuance of the Injunction.  Having upheld the district court's determinations that (1) Shapiro would likely suffer irreparable physical and emotional harm absent issuance of the injunction and that (2) Shapiro had demonstrated a clear likelihood that she will succeed on the merits of her FHAA claim, we conclude that the district court did not abuse its discretion by requiring Cadman Towers to provide Shapiro with a parking space in its garage during the pendency of this litigation.  Indeed, faced with Cadman Towers' failure to suggest any alternative solutions, the district court had little choice but to enter the injunction requested by Shapiro.

(   (   (   (   (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS: Shapiro
1.14:
In Shapiro, the defendant challenged a number of the trial court’s findings of fact.  What were these challenges and how did the court of appeals respond?  Why might a lawyer recommend to a client that they not raise these issues on appeal?  Is there any harm in trying?

1.15:
In Shapiro, the plaintiff claims that she is entitled to “reasonable accommodations” under §3604(f).  What do the statute suggest about the meaning of this phrase?  What do you think Congress trying to accomplish with this provision?

1.16:
What argument from a parallel statute does the defendant make about the meaning of “reasonable accommodation?”   Why does the court reject this argument?  What information does the court provide about what the phrase means?

1.17 What arguments do the parties in Shapiro make about the applicability of 24 CFR §100.204(b)(2)?  What do you think the provision suggests about the correct outcome of the case?

1.18:
The court never needs to reach the hard question of whether the statute would require the cooperative to give her a parking space if it meant displacing the existing parking rights of another tenant.  How should that question be resolved?

(   (   (   (   (
UNITED STATES v. FREER
864 F.Supp. 324 (W.D.N.Y. 1994)

TELESCA, Chief Judge:  INTRODUCTION.  The United States of America brings this action for declaratory and injunctive relief, on behalf of the complainant Ann Soper, under the Fair Housing Act.  Ms. Soper is a disabled individual who resides in a trailer park owned by the defendants Jack and Beverly Freer. The Government alleges that the defendants failed to make a reasonable accommodation for Ms. Soper's disability by refusing to allow her to install a wheelchair ramp to gain access to her trailer.  The Government seeks a preliminary injunction enjoining the defendants from continuing to withhold their approval of Ms. Soper's request to install a wheelchair ramp.  For the following reasons, the Government's motion for a preliminary injunction is granted.
BACKGROUND.  Ms. Soper is a disabled individual who is confined to a wheelchair.  Ms. Soper has a trailer home which is located in the defendants' trailer park.  In order to enter the trailer, Ms. Soper must climb five steps.  Without a wheelchair ramp, Ms. Soper needs to be carried (or otherwise attended) up the steps and into her home.  Recently, while being assisted into her home, Ms. Soper fell and was injured.
Prior to her accident, Ms. Soper had asked the defendants for permission to install, at her own cost, a wheelchair ramp which wrapped around the side and front of her trailer and partially protruded into her driveway.  The defendants refused to allow installation of a ramp with that configuration, claiming that it would impede trailer removal and would so shorten Ms. Soper's driveway that parked cars would obstruct the trailer park's access road.  The defendants proposed an alternative ramp design which Ms. Soper has rejected as unsuitable to her needs.
DISCUSSION.  A preliminary injunction may be granted where the movant demonstrates: (1) irreparable harm;  and (2) either (a) a likelihood of success on the merits or (b) the existence of a serious question going to the merits of the case to make it a fair ground for litigation and a balance of hardships tipping decidedly in the movant's favor. 
The Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination against handicapped individuals in the terms, conditions or privileges of rental of a dwelling or in the provision of services or facilities in connection with such a dwelling.  Under the statute, unlawful discrimination includes, a refusal to permit, at the expense of the handicapped person, reasonable modifications of existing premises occupied or to be occupied by such person if such modifications may be necessary to afford such person full enjoyment of the premises except that, in the case of a rental, the landlord may where is it reasonable to do so condition permission for a modification on the renter agreeing to restore the interior of the premises to the condition that existed before the modification, reasonable wear and tear excepted.
In order to establish a prima facie case of discrimination under  the Act, plaintiff must demonstrate that the defendants' actions had a discriminatory effect. The Act defines as discrimination the failure to reasonably accommodate an individual's disability in the provision of housing services. 
The Government has established a prima facie case of discrimination under the Act.  There is no dispute that Ms. Soper qualifies as a handicapped person under the Act or that the defendants knew of her handicap and refused to allow her to install a wheelchair ramp at her home.  Unquestionably, the defendants' refusal to permit installation of the ramp has effectively denied Ms. Soper an equal opportunity to use and enjoy her home.  
The defendants have failed to rebut the presumption of discrimination by demonstrating that Ms. Soper's proposed modification is unreasonable, i.e., imposes upon them an undue financial or administrative burden.  The defendants claim that Ms. Soper's "wrap around" ramp proposal will make trailer removal and driveway parking difficult, thereby obstructing traffic using the access road.  Instead, they propose an alternative design which meets all applicable laws and codes, does not block the driveway and costs no more than Ms. Soper's proposed ramp.
A. 
Irreparable Harm.  Without a wheelchair ramp, Ms. Soper is essentially a prisoner in her home. She is afraid to venture outdoors because she was injured the last time she was assisted up her front stairs.  Her ability to keep medical appointments and participate in daily activities of living is significantly restricted.  The Government has made a showing that Ms. Soper will suffer irreparable harm in the absence of a ramp.
B. 
Possibility of Success on the Merits.  The Government has clearly demonstrated a possibility of success on the merits of its claim.  There is no dispute that the defendants have refused to accommodate Ms. Soper's disability by not allowing her to build the "wrap around" wheelchair ramp.  Pursuant to the Act, the defendants are obligated to approve Ms. Soper's ramp proposal unless it is proven that the proposal is unreasonable.  The defendants cannot accomplish this by simply tossing Ms. Soper's proposal aside and pressing for acceptance of their alternative design.
This Court is unconvinced that Ms. Soper's ramp proposal is unreasonable.1  Installation of the ramp will not impose an undue financial burden on the defendants because Ms. Soper is assuming the construction costs.  In addition, the defendants will not suffer undue administrative burdens should the ramp be built.  The Government has stated that Ms. Soper's proposed ramp can be disassembled within three hours and will not impede removal of the trailer.  This Court has also reviewed a photograph of the Soper driveway which sheds substantial doubt on the defendants' claim that installation of Ms. Soper's ramp design will impede traffic in the driveway and on the access road.  In short, the defendants have submitted insufficient evidence to rebut the inference of discrimination under the Act.
WHEREFORE, the Government's motion for a preliminary injunction is granted.  The defendants shall allow Ms. Soper to install her proposed "wrap around" wheelchair ramp.
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
1.19:
What information does the language of §3604(f)(3)(A) and of 24 CFR §100.203 provide about what types of proposed modifications are unreasonable?  What standard does the court in Freer apply to decide this question?

1.20
Would it change the result in Freer if any of the following were true:

(a) Because of the ramp, the landlord’s property taxes increased by $40 a year.

(b) The ramp takes nine hours to disassemble.

(c) The ramp sticks out sufficiently that most cars have to slow down to get by.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
CONGDON v. STRINE

854 F.Supp. 355 (E.D. Penn. 1994)

DALZELL, District Judge:  Plaintiffs Linda Congdon and her husband Paul Congdon filed this action against defendant Walter Strine …, alleging handicap discrimination in violation of the [FHAA] …. Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges that defendant’s maintenance policies regarding the elevator in the apartment building where the Congdons live fail to take account of Mrs. Congdon’s disability, and that defendant’s eviction threat was in retaliation for filing complaints with governmental agencies.  Strine has filed a motion for summary judgment.  For the reasons that follow, we will grant his motion.

Factual Background.  The Congdons reside in an apartment [in a building] which Strine owns … on the fourth floor[, which] may be reached by use of the stairway or the elevator.  During the first year of occupancy, the Congdons had a one-year lease;  since that time their tenancy has been on a month to month basis.  Mrs. Congdon suffers from various diseases, and since 1992 has been largely confined to a wheelchair.  Some time before January of 1993, the building’s elevator “began to experience recurring breakdowns”.  Because of these breakdowns, Mrs. Congdon “has used the stairs and had some physical problems that may be related to her increased activity.”  

  
In April of 1993, the Congdons filed a complaint with the [Pennsylvania] Bureau of Consumer Protection … describing the problems with the elevator and their alleged discriminatory effects.  The Congdons also filed complaints with the Delaware County Consumer Affairs Department, and … with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), alleging a violation of the Fair Housing Act.    The next day, HUD referred its complaint to the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission. 

On May 26, 1993, Strine advised the Congdons that their lease was not being renewed and that they were to vacate the premises by August 31, 1993.   The Congdons did not vacate the premises….  Strine took no action against them, however, and has neither taken further action to evict plaintiffs nor filed any legal proceedings against them. Strine offered to rent to the Congdons a ground floor apartment in the same building or, alternatively, an apartment in another building he owned, but the Congdons rejected both offers as unsuitable.  …

Legal Analysis. … The Congdons claim that Strine violated §3604(f) … which make[s] it unlawful to discriminate in the sale or rental of housing because of a disability.  It is undisputed that Mrs. Congdon is handicapped within the meaning of the statute.

Denial of Housing under 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(1).  Before we examine whether plaintiffs have made out a prima facie case under Title VIII, we must first determine whether defendant’s actions implicate the FHAA. ... This case differs from most Title VIII cases in that there was no actual denial of housing.  It is undisputed that Strine continues to rent an apartment to the Congdons and that Linda Congdon has been living in the apartment since 1983. There is no evidence that Strine discriminated in renting to Mrs. Congdon or that she has been denied housing.  The Congdons essentially claim that the threatened eviction and the refusal to provide reasonable accommodations violate §3604(f)(1). Thus, we must determine whether Strine’s actions fall within the ambit of the “otherwise make unavailable or deny” language of §3604(f)(1).

  
In Growth Horizons, Inc. v. Delaware County, 983 F.2d 1277 (3d Cir.1993), our Court of Appeals stated that:

[w]e would be reluctant to hold that a plaintiff asserting a claim under §3604(f)(1) must prove that the defendant made it impossible for a handicapped person to occupy a dwelling.  We think it likely that conduct short of foreclosing a housing opportunity altogether may violate the statute.

Although the Court of Appeals did not elaborate in Growth Horizons on what specific conduct it had in mind, we do not believe it contemplated the undramatic setting presented here as one which would violate the statute.

While a threat of eviction should not be taken lightly, Strine and his agents made offers to rent other apartments to the Congdons, including an offer to rent her an apartment in the same building on the first floor. Strine took no further actions to enforce the eviction notice. Indeed, Strine never denied housing to the Congdons.  To the contrary, Strine undisputedly offered the Congdons alternatives, albeit not to their taste.  

Although the Congdons do not specify what reasonable accommodations they think Strine must provide, we infer that they want Strine to provide better repairs to the elevator, a new elevator, or another apartment that is acceptable to Mrs. Congdon’s needs for accessibility and parking.  Taking as true that defendant failed to provide a trouble-free elevator or another apartment to plaintiffs’ liking, the Congdons still were not denied housing.  There is no evidence that Mrs. Congdon was unable to return to her apartment and had to spend the night elsewhere.  The Congdons only allege that Mrs. Congdon at times “miss[ed] appointments and other daily activities” because she was unable to leave the apartment.  Although it appears that Mrs. Congdon was inconvenienced, we do not find that these actions fall within the meaning of  “make unavailable” or “deny” in §3604(f)(1) any more than the occasional failure of the elevators in this courthouse “deny” courtrooms to litigants.  Thus, we cannot find that defendant’s conduct implicates §3604(f)(1) of Title VIII.
Discriminatory Provision of Services under 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(2).  ... The Congdons do not allege that their terms, conditions or privileges of the rental differed from other tenants.  In essence, the Congdons claim that Strine discriminated against them by providing poor elevator service.  They allege that Strine’s maintenance practices regarding the elevator were discriminatory because the breakdown of the elevator understandably created more hardships for Mrs. Congdon than it did to non-handicapped tenants.  “To make out a prima facie case under Title VIII, a plaintiff can show either discriminatory treatment ... or discriminatory effect alone, without proof of discriminatory intent ...” Doe v. Butler, 892 F.2d 315, 323 (3d Cir.1989).  We shall consider the Congdons’ “discriminatory treatment” and “discriminatory effect” theories separately.

  
For the Congdons to succeed on a “discriminatory treatment” claim, they need to show that Strine adopted and carried out his maintenance policies regarding the elevator with the intent to discriminate against Mrs. Congdon because of her disability. … The Congdons have not submitted any facts to show that Strine had such a discriminatory motive with regard to the elevator maintenance policies.  Plaintiffs only generally allege that Strine was motivated by a discriminatory intent.  They proffer no evidence that Strine acted differently in providing elevator services to Mrs. Congdon.  The elevator’s imperfections doubtless vexed all the tenants, not solely Mrs. Congdon.  Strine thus did not stop providing elevator service exclusively to Mrs. Congdon.

Although we find no evidence of discriminatory treatment, plaintiffs need only show that Strine’s policy regarding the elevator’s maintenance had a discriminatory effect. [The court rejected the discriminatory effect argument under existing Seventh Circuit standards.]
“Reasonable Accommodations”.  Before we leave our analysis of whether there was a violation of §3604(f), the Congdons ask us to consider subsection 3, which provides, in relevant part:

For purposes of this subsection discrimination includes-- ... 

(B) a refusal to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling ...

  
In Southeastern Community College v. Davis, 442 U.S. 397 (1979), the Supreme Court held that an accommodation is not reasonable if (1) it would require a “fundamental alteration in the nature of a program,” or (2) if it would impose “undue financial or administrative burdens” on the defendant. Applying this general rule, the District Court of New Jersey stated:

“Reasonable accommodation” means changing some rule that is generally applicable to everyone so as to make its burden less onerous on the handicapped individual.  Thus, where everyone is provided with ‘equal access’ to a building in the form of a staircase, reasonable accommodation to those in wheelchairs may require building a ramp.

Oxford House, Inc. v. Cherry Hill, 799 F.Supp. 450, 462 n.25 (D.N.J. 1992).

  
The Congdons claim that Strine did not make a “reasonable accommodation” of Mrs. Congdon’s disability.  Although it is not clear from the complaint, it appears that plaintiffs base their claim on their allegations that Strine did not keep the elevator in better working condition, did not replace the elevator, or offer the Congdons another apartment that would accommodate Mrs. Congdon’s disabilities.  

  
Strine argues that he did make reasonable accommodations for Mrs. Congdon’s disability in that he had a regular elevator maintenance contract, and offered the Congdons a first floor apartment in the same building, as well as another apartment in a building with two elevators. Lastly, Strine argues that forcing him to install a new elevator in the building would impose an undue financial burden because a new elevator would cost sixty-five to seventy thousand dollars, and such an expenditure would not be a reasonable accommodation for a month-to-month tenant. The Congdons have not submitted any evidence of requests for reasonable accommodations that they made and were refused other than for a new elevator and to make the existing elevator trouble-free.  

We agree with Strine that forcing him to install a new elevator would constitute, in this context, “a massive judicial intrusion on private autonomy.”  Such an intrusion would offend any decent respect for proportionality given that the Congdons seek a $65,000 capital expenditure when they are free to walk away from Strine on payment of only one month’s rent. The Congdons’ extravagant demand for such an “accommodation” thus cannot be deemed to be “reasonable”.

As we have previously mentioned, Strine has a contract with an elevator maintenance company, and he submits undisputed evidence that repairs were made regularly.  Thus, it does not seem that Strine failed to make a reasonable accommodation in his elevator maintenance for Mrs. Congdon’s disability.  We are further fortified in our conclusion because of Strine’s good faith effort to accommodate Mrs. Congdon by offering her occupancy in other apartments.  Thus, we do not find discrimination pursuant to §3604(f)(3).

(   (   (  (   (
DISCUSSION QUESTION
1.21: The reasonable accommodations claim in Congdon is disposed of relatively easily because the defendant offered the plaintiff a first-floor apartment, which she refused.  What circumstances might make the offer of this apartment as an accommodation unreasonable? Suppose there was no such apartment available.  How much money does the statute require the landlord to spend to fix the elevator or to find another solution?

(   (   (   (   (
UTAH LABOR COMMISSION v. PARADISE TOWN
660 F. Supp. 2d 1256 (D. Utah 2009)
CLARK WADDOUPS, District Judge. The Town of Paradise, Utah, refused to grant an accommodation requested by Roland  and Ruth Leishman, the parents of Christine Leishman, a disabled woman. The Leishmans live in a zone in the Town that allows only one single family dwelling per lot. The Leishmans requested an exception from the zoning requirement as an accommodation for Christine's disability to allow her twenty-four hour caregivers to live in an adjacent building on the parents' property. The Utah Labor Commission brought this action against the Town … alleging that the refusal is a violation of the Fair Housing Act… .  The Leishmans have intervened.  The matter is now before the court on the Town's motion for summary judgment.

Reasonableness of Request. In determining whether the reasonableness requirement has been met, a court may consider as factors the extent to which the accommodation would undermine the legitimate purposes and effects of existing zoning regulations and the benefits that the accommodation would provide to the handicapped. It may also consider whether alternatives exist to accomplish the benefits more efficiently. And in measuring the effects of an accommodation, the court may look not only to its functional and administrative aspects, but also to its costs. "Reasonable accommodations" do not require accommodations which impose undue financial and administrative burdens . . . or changes that would constitute fundamental alterations in the nature of the program.” Bryant Woods Inn v. Howard County, Md., 124 F.3d 597, 604 (4th Cir. 1997).

Here, the Leishmans' requested accommodation is to receive a conditional use permit or other exception to the zoning laws allowing them to house Christine's caregivers in the outbuilding despite the fact the property is only zoned for one single family dwelling. The Town argues that the Leishmans' request is unreasonable. The Town does not argue that any undue burdens are involved in the Leishmans' request, nor does the record support any such argument. Instead, the Town argues that the request would fundamentally alter the nature of their zoning  plan. But this argument fails because the Leishmans seek only a conditional use permit or other accommodation, not a re-zoning of their lot, much less of the entire area. The Town's argument is premised on a misconception that allowing the accommodation to the Leishmans would require it to allow other residents to place dual residences on their single family lots. The accommodation, however, is an exception, not a fundamental change of the zoning requirements. Similar exceptions would have to be granted only if there were other residents who also had disabled members of their families who needed the same accommodation. …
Though the court doubts that it would change the analysis here, it is worth noting that the Town presented no evidence that there were any other Town residents seeking such an accommodation. Nor is it clear that even if there were many others in similar situations, that a making large number of such exceptions would fundamentally change the zoned areas from single family residences to multiple family areas.

The Town also argues that the exception should not be allowed because it was willing to grant the Leishmans as an alternative accommodation the right to have the caregivers live in a basement apartment or an addition to the residence. There remains, however, a disputed issue of fact as to whether, given all of the circumstance, these alternatives were reasonable. For example, if the caregivers were to live in a basement apartment, the same number of people would still be living on the same lot. The same number of vehicles would be parked on the lot. The traffic in the streets in the neighborhood would be the same and the outbuilding would remain on the property. Thus the burden on the Town and the impact to the zoned area would not change. 

The burden on the Leishmans, however, would be significantly different. They have an existing building that appears to meet the requirements for habitability. To accept the Town's proposed accommodation, the Leishmans may be required to incur significant expense to modify the entrance to the basement apartment or to build an addition onto the main residence. All of  which, in addition to adding expense for the Leishmans, would cause additional traffic, noise and disruption in the neighborhood.

By arguing for summary judgment on this issue, the Town is indirectly asking the court to rule as a matter of law that the Town's proposal to have the caregivers live in the Leishmans' basement or addition is the only reasonable accommodation the Town was required to make. In making this argument, the Town ignores that allowing the caregivers to live in the outbuilding does not change the status quo that has existed now for several years and disregards that Christine's treating physician has opined that having non-family members live in the main residence would have an impact on Christine's condition. The Town maintains that the doctor's opinion that Christine would suffer undue anxiety should not be considered, arguing that he is unqualified to give such an opinion. On a motion for summary judgment, however, the facts are to be read in the nonmovants' favor. The Commission and the Leishmans have submitted sufficient evidence to create an issue of fact requiring that summary judgment be denied.

Even if the court were to ignore the evidence about Christine's anxiety, the Town's argument still fails. The Town has not indisputably established that it would be unreasonable for the caregivers to live in the outbuilding or that it would be inherently more reasonable for them to live in the basement or new addition. Put another way, even if it were reasonable for the caregivers to live in the basement or a new addition, that alone does not prove that it would be unreasonable for the caregivers to live in the outbuilding. Consequently, there is no basis in the record to determine that the only reasonable course of action is to have the caregivers live in the basement or addition. 

The essence of the Town's argument is that its zoning authority is paramount and that any request to alter it in any way is per se unreasonable. Of course, this argument does not comport with federal law, and federal courts "have unanimously applied the [FHA's] reasonable accommodations requirement to zoning ordinances and other land use regulations and practices."

Finally, the court observes that the Town's reliance on Brandt v. Village of Chebanse, is misplaced. In Brandt, the plaintiffs requested a zoning variance to build a four-unit building, which included handicapped-accessible units on the first floor, in a single family zone. No handicapped  persons were living at the site where the plaintiffs intended to construct the building. When the village refused to grant the variance, the plaintiffs sued under the FHA. The Seventh Circuit ruled in favor of the village, finding that the request to build the four-unit building was not an "accommodation" at all, but rather an attempt to make an end-run around the village's zoning plan by building an accessible building at that site. In the end, it was clear to the court that the plaintiffs were seeking to make more money by building more units in an area intended for single family use and simply were attempting to use the FHA as a tool to alter the zoning plan. On that record, the Seventh Circuit made the comment that the FHA was not intended to turn the "United States into a multi-family dwelling zone."

The Town relies, incorrectly, on Brandt to advance a slippery slope argument. The Town argues that if it must make an accommodation in this case, it would have to make accommodations in every case, rendering its zoning power meaningless. But of course, by its own terms the FHA only applies to genuine, reasonable requests for accommodations by disabled people. While making such accommodations may impose limits on its ability to enforce its zoning powers in specific limited circumstances, it is a far stretch to say that doing so will abrogate its power entirely.

Brandt is not a case about denying genuine requests for accommodations to avoid a slippery slope. Rather, the "accommodation" requested in Brandt was not an accommodation at all, but a disguised attempt to avoid zoning rules. Of course, if courts were to start enforcing that kind of request, the FHA would indeed convert the United States into a multi-family zone. Here, however, unlike in Brandt, there is every indication that Leishmans are making the request as a sincere attempt to obtain a reasonable accommodation for Christine. There is no hint that the Leishmans' request for an accommodation was motivated by anything but making it possible for Christine to stay at home. … For all these reasons, summary judgment in the Town's favor on the issue of whether the Leishmans' accommodation request was reasonable is not appropriate.

DISCUSSION QUESTION
1.22: What does Utah Labor Commission tell us about the meaning of reasonable in §3604(f)(3)(B)?
(   (   (   (   (
BAUGHMAN v. CITY OF ELKHART
2018 WL 1510678 (E.D. Texas 2018)
K. NICOLE MITCHELL, UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE. Before the Court is Defendants’ … Motion for Summary Judgment. … For the reasons set forth below, the Court GRANTS the motion for summary judgment.
BACKGROUND. Plaintiff Tammy Baughman, proceeding pro se and in forma pauperis, filed this case on May 31, 2017 seeking relief pursuant to … the Fair Housing Amendments Act ("FHAA"). … In her Amended Complaint, Plaintiff asserts that she is disabled as a result of failed back surgery, fibromyalgia, depression and other health issues. She states that she has owned a seven pound ring tail lemur for seven years. Plaintiff submits that the lemur is an emotional support and assistance animal that improves her quality of life. Plaintiff states that the lemur bit a rural mail carrier on December 5, 2012, leaving lacerations on the carrier's hand and wrist. Plaintiff alleges that the lemur was then quarantined for thirty days and returned to her. Plaintiff later moved to Elkhart, Texas, in December 2014. She submits that the lemur bit another individual on June 25, 2015. The lemur was again quarantined for thirty days and returned to Plaintiff.

Plaintiff states that the City of Elkhart enacted an ordinance on October 5, 2015 … that bans all non-human primates from the city. Plaintiff submits that she sought an accommodation from the City to keep the lemur as an emotional support animal but it was denied …. On February 15, 2018, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking dismissal of all claims asserted by Plaintiff. Defendants assert that Plaintiff lives in a home in Elkhart and that she also operates a small retail resale shop out of her home. Prior to moving to Elkhart, Plaintiff's lemur was involved in two documented attacks on humans in Houston County, Texas, that resulted in injuries and periods of quarantine. One attack was on a mail carrier and another attack was on Plaintiff's son-in-law.

After Plaintiff moved to Elkhart, an incident occurred on June 25, 2015 where the lemur jumped on Lucinda Washington, a customer in Plaintiff's store, and injured Ms. Washington's arm. Ms. Washington required stitches. She complained about the incident to the Anderson County Sheriff's Department. Deputy Jimmy Chambers … investigated and determined that the lemur had been involved in previous attacks on humans. His investigation included talking to Plaintiff about the incident and about her lemur. Deputy Chambers notified Plaintiff that he would file paperwork in an effort to deem the lemur as "dangerous" pursuant to TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE §822.041. The lemur was quarantined to check for signs of rabies and Deputy Chambers reported Ms. Washington's complaint to the City Council. Deputy Chambers also suggested that Plaintiff could relocate her lemur to a wildlife reserve or zoo, but Plaintiff declined.

The City later proposed an amendment to its City Animal Control Ordinance to prohibit individuals from keeping a vicious or an exotic animal within the city limits. The proposed amendment was discussed at the City Council meeting on October 20, 2015. Plaintiff appeared at the hearing and presented her opposition to the ordinance. The minutes from the October 20, 2015 City Council meeting summarize Plaintiff's statements to the City Council at the meeting:

The Council heard testimony from Tammy Baughman regarding incidents with her pet lemur, Keanu. Ms. Bauman described how her daughter first saw Keanu at a party, dyed hot pink and being given alcohol. Ms. Baughman stated how she paid $100.00 to the person that owned Keanu to rescue him. Ms. Baughman also stated that her lemur is a family member. Ms. Baughman stated her lemur attacked the mail carrier and described the incident that he attacked the mail carrier and a couple of incidents that led up to the attack. Ms. Baughman also described an incident where her son-in-law was injured. According to Ms. Baughman with regard to the "Lucinda incident," as quoted by Ms. Baughman, Lucinda did nothing wrong. Keanu, the lemur, ran up her arm and wrapped his arms and legs around her arm, she tried to fling him off and was harmed in doing so. …
The City Council additionally heard from Anderson County Sheriff Greg Taylor at the meeting. Sheriff Taylor noted that animals are unpredictable and recommended the enactment of the ordinance as being in the best interest of the citizens of Elkhart. Councilman Andrew Chavarilla noted that the animal is now a health and safety issue because he has attacked multiple humans. When asked, Plaintiff acknowledged that her lemur has never been vaccinated for rabies. The City Council then voted and the ordinance passed by a majority vote. ,,,In relevant part, Ordinance 112-081307-1, approved and effective on October 26, 2015, states:

4.3 WILD OR VICIOUS ANIMAL: It shall be unlawful to keep, harbor, release or allow to run at large any animal(s) as defined in Section 1.4 or 1.6 of this Ordinance.

4.4 EXOTIC ANIMALS: It shall be unlawful to keep, harbor, release or allow to run at large any animal(s) as defined in Section 1.11 of this Ordinance.

A vicious animal is defined in Section 1.6 as "[a]ny animal that commits an unprovoked attack upon a person on public or private property or that attacks, threatens to attack or terrorizes a person on public property or in a public place.". An exotic animal is defined in Section 1.11 as "any non-human primate, skunk, jaguar, leopard, lynx, tiger, lion, panther, bear, coyote, venomous or non-venomous reptile, or any other carnivorous wild animal or reptile." 

Sometime after the ordinance was enacted, Plaintiff requested an accommodation to allow her to keep her lemur due to an emotional disability. Defendants assert that Plaintiff was provided an opportunity to present her position to City representatives, but she failed to identify a specific disability or health condition. Instead, Plaintiff described security measures she had taken to keep the lemur away from the public.

Plaintiff filed a complaint against the City of Elkhart, Texas, with Housing and Urban Development on December 9, 2015, alleging that the City … discriminated against her by failing to make a reasonable accommodation for her disability. The Civil Rights Division of the Texas Workforce Commission ("TWC") completed an investigation and determined that there was no reasonable cause to believe that the City discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of a disability or that a discriminatory housing practice occurred. The TWC written decision issued on April 15, 2016 concludes that the City was not unreasonable in denying Plaintiff's request for an accommodation as a result of the known history of the lemur injuring humans and the concern for the health, safety and welfare of the other citizens in Elkhart.

In their motion for summary judgment, Defendants … argue that there is no evidence showing that they engaged in a prohibited discriminatory housing practice in violation of the FHAA. Even if Defendants had taken action concerning Plaintiff's right to own, lease or occupy housing, Defendants assert that … a request for a reasonable accommodation … would have been reasonably denied based upon the lemur's history of attacks. …
Plaintiff filed a response on March 12, 2018. Plaintiff asserts that the FHAA gives her the right to have an emotional support animal …. Plaintiff attached letters from a counselor and a psychologist stating that she has a mental health disability and that the lemur is important to her mental health. …
Fair Housing Amendments Act.  The FHAA makes it unlawful to "discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection with such dwelling because of a handicap." 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(2). … The burden is on the plaintiff to show discrimination. Elderhaven, Inc. v. City of Lubbock, Tex., 98 F.3d 175, 177 (5th Cir. 1996). Discrimination includes a "refusal to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling[.]" 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B)…. . The FHAA requires an accommodation if it is reasonable and necessary to afford an individual with a disability an equal opportunity to use and enjoy housing. The analysis of the reasonableness of the requested accommodation includes weighing the legitimate purposes and effects of the ordinance against the benefits that an accommodation would provide to the disabled individual. An accommodation that is reasonable does not place an undue burden on the governmental entity imposing the restriction. See Elderhaven, 98 F.3d at  178. The crux of a reasonable accommodation claim is the element of reasonableness. 

The accommodation sought by Plaintiff is an exemption from the Animal Control Ordinance such that she can keep her lemur in her home within the city limits. Plaintiff did not present evidence showing that she submitted a written request to the City asking for a reasonable accommodation. Instead, she submitted evidence to show that she sent letters to the City from her psychologist and counselor stating that her lemur is beneficial to her mental health. The parties agree that Plaintiff met with members of the City Council after the Animal Control Ordinance was enacted and that Plaintiff proposed measures that she could take to keep the lemur away from the public.

Even if the Court assumes, arguendo, that Plaintiff has sufficiently established a genuine issue of material fact concerning whether she requested an accommodation that is necessary for her to have an equal opportunity to use and enjoy her home, she has not shown that the requested accommodation is reasonable. Prior to the enactment of the Animal Control Ordinance, Plaintiff's lemur injured at least three people. The third injury occurred in Elkhart, and the victim lodged a complaint with the local police. That injury and legitimate citizen complaint set the events in motion that resulted in the enactment of the ordinance prohibiting exotic animals, including non-human primates, from being kept or harbored in Elkhart. Plaintiff has not presented any evidence contradicting Defendants' evidence that the ordinance was enacted due to a concern for the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of Elkhart. Plaintiff also has not presented any evidence to show that the threat of danger posed by her lemur, documented by a history of attacks, could be reduced or eliminated with an alternative option that is reasonable.

Plaintiff has not shown that the requested accommodation—an exemption from the Animal Control Ordinance—does not place an undue burden on the City of Elkhart. Reasonableness is a highly fact-specific inquiry that requires balancing the Plaintiff's needs with that of the governmental entity, but Plaintiff did not provide facts that would show that her interest in keeping her lemur outweighs the City's interest in protecting its citizens. Plaintiff has not met her burden of raising a genuine issue of material fact concerning whether the City of Elkhart applies the Animal Control Ordinance in a manner that fails to reasonably accommodate the needs of her disability and Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. …
(   (   (   (   (
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DISCUSSION QUESTION

1.23: What does Baughman tell us about the meaning of reasonable in §3604(f)(3)(B)?
1.24. Assume that you included each of the cases in this section (except Freer) in your case list.  What annotations would be appropriate for each?
a [At the time of the decision, Section 51 provided:  





All persons within the jurisdiction of this state are free and equal, and no matter what their sex, race, color, religion, ancestry or national origin are entitled to the full and equal accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges or services in all business establishments of every kind whatsoever. ….]





2 They do not appeal the lower court’s dismissal, based on the statute of limitations, of their companion claim under 42 U.S.C. §3604.


3 Raymond had called to ask about a briefcase he had forgotten earlier, which the Sorensons left at a neighbor’s apartment because of their intention to leave for the evening.


4 Whom he had seen earlier.  In response to an anxious neighboring tenant’s inquiry, he had stated that he did not intend to rent an apartment to the two girls, although he insists he meant only that they had never inquired about renting.


5 Although Raymond admitted to federal investigators several days after the incident that he would prefer not to rent to blacks for fear that having black tenants would lower the value of his property, no black had ever applied, and he did not complain about fearing the effect of black visitors on his investment.  Raymond countered any suggestion of actual racial animus by pointing to his participation in several civic projects designed to improve race relations.


11 A real estate agent, concerned about having difficulty selling the remaining vacant lots in a subdivision if he sold two to blacks, offered to waive closing costs, a discount given all white purchasers, only if the black found buyers for the other lots.


14 Despite lame explanations by counsel for appellee that he intended only to impeach the witness.


1 The plan proposed by Ms. Soper allows for a manageable graduated incline albeit over a longer ramp.  The Freer proposal would allow for a much more severe incline (thus less manageable) over a shorter span of ramp.
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